
 1 

 

MINUTES 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWNSHIP OF UXBRIDGE 
 

Monday, October 6, 2025 
UXBRIDGE COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

51 TORONTO STREET S. UXBRIDGE, ONTARIO 
 
COUNCIL PRESENT: MAYOR DAVE BARTON 
 BRUCE GARROD, REGIONAL COUNCILLOR 
 GORDON SHREEVE, COUNCILLOR 
 ZED PICKERING, COUNCILLOR 
 WILLIE POPP, COUNCILLOR 
 TODD SNOOKS, COUNCILLOR 
  
COUNCIL ABSENT: PAM BEACH, COUNCILLOR 
  
STAFF PRESENT: DEBBIE LEROUX, DEPUTY CAO/DIRECTOR OF 

LEGISLATIVE SERVICES/CLERK 
 EMILY ELLIOTT, DEPUTY CLERK 
 ROCHELLE SILVA, LEGISLATIVE ASSISTANT 
 HILARY WILLIAMS, DIRECTOR DEVELOPMENT 

SERVICES, BY-LAW AND ANIMAL CONTROL 
CODY MORRISON, CHIEF PLANNING OFFICIAL 

 LIZ HOWSON, TOWNSHIP PLANNING CONSULTANT 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Barton called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

First Nations Land Acknowledgement 

2. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND THE GENERAL 
NATURE THEREOF 

None disclosed. 

3. REVIEW OF ITEMS NOT LISTED ON AGENDA 

 There was none. 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

There were none. 

5. PRESENTATIONS 

Mayor Barton passed the duties of the Chair to Councillor Snooks, 
Chairman of the Planning Committee, to provide opening remarks on the 
purpose of the meeting.  

5.1 Elizabeth Howson, Macaulay Shiomi Howson 

re Envisioning our Uxbridge 

Liz Howson, the Township’s Planning Consultant with Macaulay 
Shiomi Howson, with the assistance of a PowerPoint presentation, 
provided an overview of the purpose of this meeting, which is to 
initiate the review of the Township’s Official Plan. Ms. Howson 
explained that the Official Plan is a long-range, comprehensive 
document that establishes the long-term vision for the community 
and the decision-making framework for Council. Ms. Howson 



 2 

 

explained the historical inclusion of the Durham Region Official Plan 
for lands outside the Uxbridge Urban Area and added that changes in 
Provincial legislation mean that the Durham Region Official Plan in its 
entirety is now part of the Township’s Official Plan. Ms. Howson 
explained that the revised Plan is intended to cover the planning 
period through the year 2051. 

Ms. Howson explained that the last comprehensive review of the 
Plan was done in 2010 and, due to significant changes in Provincial 
and Regional planning and economy contexts since then, this review 
is deemed necessary to comply with the Planning Act.  

Ms. Howson explained that the review workplan and timeline will 
involve aligning the Township’s Plan with the Greenbelt Plan, Oak 
Ridges Moraine Conservation Plan, the Lake Simcoe Protection 
Plan, Durham Region’s Envision Durham Plan, and the Uxbridge 
Urban Area Secondary Plan pertaining to the Urban Area. Ms. 
Howson used a map to explain the existing policy framework and 
illustrate the overlapping plans and complexities involved. Ms. 
Howson further explained the importance of ensuring ongoing 
dialogue with the community throughout the Review including the 
development of the updated Vision for the Township.   

Ms. Howson provided an overview of the process phases involved in 
the Plan Review, which will include such steps as reviewing the 
issues, public involvement with a series of community open houses, 
workshops, indigenous consultation, presenting the Draft Official Plan 
Amendment, and recommending the Final Official Plan Amendment 
for Council adoption and submission to the Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing.  

Ms. Howson spoke to the community engagement strategy with an 
in-person vision workshop starting in the fall, as well as two public 
open houses. Ms. Howson explained that a dedicated email will be 
available for the public to submit feedback to staff. 

Questions from members of Council 

Regional Councillor Garrod inquired about how provincial input influences 
the evolution of the plan. Ms. Howson explained that a meeting with the 
province has taken place to review the proposed plan and discuss the 
overall process. It was explained that the Province will also review the draft 
plan and have the opportunity to submit formal comments. Ms. Howson 
added that all comments will be compiled into a review matrix, which will be 
included in the reporting and used to bring the recommended plan forward.  

Regional Councillor Garrod asked about the Region’s Envision Durham 
document and its connection to Uxbridge. Ms. Howson explained that the 
Region’s document will be reviewed and taken with any necessary 
adjustments to align with the needs of the Town. Ms. Howson added that the 
Region will have an opportunity to review and make recommendations on 
our draft plan.  

Mayor Barton noted the perspective of some residents who would prefer not 
to see Uxbridge developed further. Mayor Barton asked Ms. Howson to 
explain the trajectory of development in the Town. Ms. Howson explained 
that growth is inevitable, but that it will be gradual and controlled due to 



 3 

 

sewage capacity limitations. Ms. Howson explained that the intensification 
of the downtown will occur at a slower pace.  

Regarding the Township’s current plan for the intensification of the 
downtown, Ms. Howson explained that good planning is currently being 
exercised as it maximizes the use of existing infrastructure and keeps 
amenities such as recreation facilities, transit, and other services central 
and within walking distance for residents. Mayor Barton inquired about how 
the hospital expansion aligns with this plan.  Ms. Howson responded that 
the Hospital is part of the intensification, especially given its central location 
in the community.  

Councillor Popp asked Ms. Howson to explain what the next step in the 
process involves. Ms. Howson explained that she is seeking public 
comment on concerns, impediments, traffic, and roads concerns which need 
to be looked at. Councillor Popp noted the new Building Code and 
accessibility considerations, and the opportunity to work closely with 
developers on building accessible spaces. Ms. Howson explained that, 
although the Planning Act does not provide the tools to make it a 
requirement, the Plan can include a strong direction for new development to 
be more accessible. 

Councillor Popp spoke about reinvigorating the tree canopy and maintaining 
unique environments within the Township. Ms. Howson responded to the 
fact that several other municipalities have provided directions about tree 
canopy, and those can be looked to for policy direction on enhancing current 
directions.  

Councillor Pickering asked Ms. Howson about involving younger residents 
and gathering their ideas about the future of the Township. Ms. Howson 
noted that she has worked with the schools in developing other plans, such 
as school projects or workshops, and that the same would be possible with 
this plan. 

Cody Morrison, Chief Planner, noted comments can be sent to the Township 
Clerk or submitted via the website.  

Regional Councillor Garrod spoke to the involvement of the hamlets and 
how they will be engaged. Ms. Howson noted that consultation will happen 
together and those in the hamlets should be informed of the opportunity to 
participate in these sessions. 

Councillor Shreeve remarked on the open-ended nature of the process and 
asked Ms. Howson what issues may be addressed at the outset or 
challenges that are foreseen. Ms. Howson noted that the challenge will be in 
the details, such as parking, as the plan evolves. 

Councillor Snooks spoke to traffic and differences that will be required in the 
urban and rural areas, emphasizing the safety of the movement of vehicles, 
and considering micro-mobility devices. 

Questions from the Public 

Roger Varley, The Uxbridge Cosmos 

Mr. Varley inquired about the relationship between the Durham Region 
Official Plan and the Uxbridge Official Plan, and whether changes at the 
regional level would impact the Township’s plan. Ms. Howson explained that 
the Region’s plan can be amended or revoked, but if it is revoked, it must be 



 4 

 

replaced. Ms. Howson confirmed that changes to the Regional Plan would 
have to only impact Uxbridge.  

Mr. Varley asked when the final plan is scheduled to be presented. Ms. 
Howson explained that June 2026 is the target date for the final Official 
Plan. Regarding any potential impact to the downtown revitalization project, 
Ms. Howson explained that the current Official Plan accounts for those 
works and the new Plan would not change or jeopardize that.  

Mr. Varley inquired about whether an advisory committee would be struck to 
advise on the draft Plan. Ms. Howson noted that this could be a possibility, 
but preferred to keep the process open to all, rather than being specific to a 
small group for comment. 

Mr. Varley asked about provincial and regional approval requirements. Ms. 
Howson clarified that the Province must provide their approval, and the 
Region would be able to give comments only. 

Don Andrews – 9b South Balsam St  

Mr. Andrews, a resident and business owner, requested consideration of 
eliminating heavy truck and aggregate traffic in the downtown area. Mr. 
Andrews acknowledged the progress made by the Downtown Revitalization 
Committee but emphasized the need for stronger action to reduce truck 
traffic. Ms. Howson acknowledged that truck traffic has been a longstanding 
issue and noted that while it is not directly within the scope of the Official 
Plan, it remains a significant community issue. Ms. Howson advised that it 
could be addressed through policy reinforcement in the Plan and through 
continued Regional collaboration.  

Mayor Barton explained that staff and Council have worked to make bypass 
routes more efficient than travelling through the downtown, including timing 
traffic signals and adding lanes where appropriate. He noted that traffic 
lights in town have been adjusted to slow through traffic, which sometimes 
causes delays for residents but helps discourage truck traffic. Mayor Barton 
stated that a complete elimination of truck routes is unlikely, although 
ongoing efforts aim to divert trucks around the town whenever possible. 

Rita Van Halteren – 7309 Centre Rd  

Ms. Van Halteren raised concerns regarding the lack of housing 
opportunities for adults with disabilities and other special needs. She noted 
the waitlist for supportive housing is excessively long and suggested the 
Township of Uxbridge consider group homes or designated lower-income 
housing units within the new developments. Ms. Howson responded that 
policies addressing group homes and inclusive housing do exist within the 
Township’s framework, but staff will review the current policies to ensure 
they provide clear direction for adults with disabilities and low-income 
residents.  

Frank Mazatto - 26 Ash Green Lane 

Mr. Mazatto asked whether Durham Region or the Township of Uxbridge 
have established tree canopy targets. Cody Morrison, Chief Planner, noted 
that neither the Region nor Uxbridge currently have formal canopy targets.  
Mr. Mazatto commented on the importance of establishing metrics to 
measure environmental stewardship goals. Mr. Mazatto also asked how 
Indigenous engagement will be incorporated into the Official Plan process, 
as well as the public's support of this. Ms. Howson explained that the 



 5 

 

Township has received a list of Indigenous communities to contact, and 
letters have been issued inviting participation in the process. Ms. Howson 
noted she anticipates that responses may vary, with some groups choosing 
active involvement and others requesting simply to be kept informed.  

Mr. Mazatto also encouraged residents to be involved in the Official Plan 
process and suggested trying to make the Downtown area as pedestrian-
friendly as possible.  

Nathalie Crewes – 64 Oakside Drive  

Ms. Crewes asked how the Township will preserve its small-town character 
as growth occurs, particularly in terms of architectural style and building 
design. Mayor Barton noted that market preference often drives 
architectural outcomes but agreed that residents value maintaining the 
Town’s aesthetic character.  Ms. Howson explained that the Official Plan 
already contains an urban design section that emphasizes the preservation 
of Uxbridge’s unique charm and vision.  She noted that specific design 
elements are evaluated during the site plan approval process.  

Mayor Barton noted recent changes in provincial policy, which have 
impacted our ability to control architectural design in the downtown area.  
Councillor Snooks added that the Township is exploring tools such as a 
Heritage Conservation District Plan to strengthen architectural control, 
noting that while some authority has been reduced under provincial 
legislation, the Township is also taking proactive steps, such as purchasing 
key downtown properties, to maintain greater control over future 
development.  

Janet Betts – 12810 Regional Road 39 

Ms. Betts expressed concern that decisions about hamlets may be made 
without sufficient input from rural residents, noting that each hamlet has 
distinct needs. Councillor Popp emphasized that the Official Plan process is 
open to all residents and that feedback from rural communities is 
encouraged.  Ms. Betts suggested hosting additional consultation meetings 
directly within the hamlets to gather more localized input.  Councillor Popp 
thanked Ms. Betts for the suggestion and confirmed that staff will explore 
options for community-based sessions at rural facilities to enhance 
accessibility for residents outside the urban core. 

Gail Sanderson – 7909 Durham Rd 30  

Ms. Sanderson noted that the provincial planning emphasis appears to be 
on large home development and less on liveability/walkability/accessibility 
for seniors. Ms. Sanderson inquired about the possibility of adding pathways 
through parks to avoid walking on the road. Ms. Sanderson emphasized a 
need for accessibility throughout the entire municipality, not just in the 
downtown. Ms. Howson noted that access will be considered, along with 
traffic and transportation issues, as well as housing suitable for seniors. 

Mayor Barton added that higher-density development helps reduce farmland 
loss, and sidewalk, pathways, and crosswalks remain a priority. Councillor 
Snooks highlighted that several accessibility and pedestrian improvements 
have been completed in recent years, including the installation of new 
sidewalks and crosswalks in Goodwood, with further projects planned for 
2026.  

 



 6 

 

Elliott Hoban – 20 Main St S 

Mr. Hoban asked whether the Township could establish measurable targets 
for walkability like how traffic flow is studied.  He suggested that setting 
goals for pedestrian connectivity could encourage both business activity and 
safe access for residents, particularly where sidewalks end abruptly.  Ms. 
Howson agreed that the suggestion aligns with the Township’s goals for 
active transportation and confirmed it would be reviewed. 

Councillor Popp referenced the Uxbridge Active Transportation Plan and the 
Downtown Revitalization Plan, noting that these documents already include 
goals related to walkability, pedestrian safety, and cycling infrastructure.  He 
explained that several new sidewalks, pathways, and lighting improvements 
have been completed or are planned, and that future planning will continue 
to integrate these priorities into the Official Plan. 

6. DELEGATIONS 

 There were none.  

7. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

There were none.  

8. CORRESPONDENCE 

 There was none.  

9. COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 There were none.  

10. RESOLUTIONS 

 There were none.  

11. REPORTS TO COUNCIL 

 There were none.  

12. BY-LAWS 

 There were none.  

13. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 There were none.  

14. OTHER BUSINESS 

 There was none.  

15. QUESTION PERIOD 

16. IN CAMERA 

There was none.  

17. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

Moved by Councillor Shreeve 
Seconded by Councillor Popp 

THAT leave be granted to introduce By-law No.2025-083, being a by-law to 
confirm the proceedings of this regular meeting of Council of October 6, 
2025 and the same be read a first and second time. 

Carried 



 7 

 

17.1 2025-083 

Being a by-law confirming the proceedings of Council at its Special 
Meeting of October 6, 2025 

Moved by Councillor Shreeve 
Seconded by Councillor Popp 

THAT By-law No. 2025-083 be now read a third time, finally passed 
 and the Mayor and Clerk duly sign and seal same. 

Carried 

18. ADJOURNMENT 

The Mayor adjourned the meeting at 8:37 p.m. 

 


